IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 01-2149

JAMES AREN DUCKETT,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR LAKE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

# AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

M. Elizabeth Wells
376 Milledge Avenue, S.E.
Atlanta, Georgia 30312-3240
Telephone 404-688-7530
Florida Bar No. 0866067

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

James Duckett is innocent. Although this may not provide an independent basis for relief from his convictions, it is a fact which cannot be ignored as one reviews the myriad errors which occurred at his trial.

## A. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

In May of 1988, Mr. Duckett was convicted of first degree murder and one count of sexual battery, crimes which he did not commit. He was sentenced to death by a jury vote of eight to four. The evidence against Mr. Duckett was circumstantial.

On direct appeal, this Court affirmed Mr. Duckett's convictions and sentences. <u>State v. Duckett</u>, 568 So. 2d 891 (Fla. 1990).

Mr. Duckett filed a Motion to Vacate Convictions and Sentence on May 1, 1992 (PC-R. 1859-70). An Amended Motion was filed in November of 1994 (PC-R. 337-470). On May 23, 1995, the court ordered an evidentiary hearing on claims II, A, D, E and F, and claims XI and XIX. Evidentiary hearings were conducted on January 7-8, 1997, October 28-30, 1997, December 17, 1997, October 26-27, 1998, and February 19, 1999.

Following the hearings, both sides submitted post-hearing briefs detailing the arguments and legal conclusions to be submitted to the court. The state's brief was styled in the

form of a proposed order (PC-R. 1551-91). At the court's behest, both parties submitted their brief to the court on disk.

On August 13, 2001, the circuit court entered an order denying Mr. Duckett relief on all claims (PC-R. 1782-1819). The circuit court's order was virtually identical to the posthearing brief filed by the state, including several errors. Although many of these errors can be described as typographical, the failure to correct some of the errors reflects a complete omission on the part of the circuit court to consider the issues raised in Mr. Duckett's 3.850 motion, much less to adequately weigh and evaluate the strength of the claims. For example, in several claims the court refers to the "tactful" decisions of counsel during the trial (PC-R. 1806-07).<sup>1</sup> Any attorney with even a basic knowledge of postconviction jurisprudence is familiar with the concept of ineffective assistance of counsel and whether or not counsel's decisions are "tactical". The fact that the judge did not review the state's order closely enough to catch this error and change it prior to signing the order<sup>2</sup> denying relief is a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Likewise, the state refers to the "tactful" decisions of counsel throughout its memorandum.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>In fact, the judge did not actually sign the order but simply entered an order with his signature stamped in printed

strong indicator that the judge did not engage in any meaningful review of the claims in Mr. Duckett's case prior to the entry of the order.

Additionally, both the state's post-hearing memorandum and the court's order denying relief contain a statement of facts taken almost verbatim from the Appellee's initial brief on direct appeal (PC-R. 1782-94). Although this Court affirmed Mr. Duckett's convictions and sentences on direct appeal, it held that the introduction of the testimony of Kimberly Ruetz was in violation of Williams v. State, and should not have been introduced in the trial. Yet the statement of facts in the circuit court's order denying Rule 3.850 relief includes a detailed summary of the testimony of Ms. Ruetz in support of the conviction of Mr. Duckett (PC-R. 1791-92). The circuit court's statement of facts also relies heavily upon the testimony of two other females who testified against Mr. Duckett at trial (PC-R. 1790-91), despite the fact that the circuit court denied Mr. Duckett a hearing regarding this issue, erroneously ruling that this issue had already been

form. The certificate of service is signed by his judicial assistant. Thus, other than the assumption that the signature stamp would not have been utilized without the judge's authorization, there is no indication that he actually read the order prior to it being entered.

considered on direct appeal.<sup>3</sup> The circuit court's failure to draft a correct statement of the facts relevant to the proceedings in its court again reflects the failure of the court to consider the facts as they related to the issues raised by Mr. Duckett in his Motion to Vacate.<sup>4</sup>

Two and one half months after signing the order denying Mr. Duckett's Rule 3.850 motion, Judge Lockett abruptly announced his decision to retire immediately from the bench (See Frank Stanfield, Judge Lockett To Step Down After 15 Years On Bench, Lake Sentinel, Oct. 30, 2001).

Following the denial, Mr. Duckett perfected his appeal to this Court.

### **B. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

On May 11, 1987, Mr. Duckett was working the night shift as a police officer in the small town of Mascotte, Florida. At around 10:30 p.m. Mr. Duckett was running radar on Highway 50

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The court's ruling was in error because it failed to take into account the fact that trial counsel did not and could not raise his own ineffectiveness with respect to these witnesses when he litigated the <u>Williams</u> rule issue on direct appeal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Any cumulative analysis done by the circuit court pursuant to <u>Kyles</u> is suspect if the court relied upon facts/evidence which improperly presented at trial. See <u>Kyles</u> <u>v. Whitley</u>, 514 U.S. 419 (1995); see also <u>Hoffman v. State</u>, 800 So. 2d 174, 179 (Fla. 2001)(court has a duty to analyze <u>Brady</u> materials in context with other evidence presented at trial).

across the street from the Circle K convenience store. The Circle K sat on the corner of Highway 50 and Sunset Drive. To the left of the Circle K, and in the same building, was a laundromat, and to the right of the building, on the same side as Sunset Drive, was a dumpster. While sitting there, Mr. Duckett noticed a young white girl and a young Mexican boy standing behind the dumpster (R. 1682). Mascotte had a curfew, and based upon the apparent youth of the two individuals, Mr. Duckett decided to go across the street and speak with them.

Upon arrival, Mr. Duckett parked in front of the store and went into the store to ask the clerk if she knew the name and age of the girl (R. 557, 1683). The clerk told Mr. Duckett the girl's name was Teresa and that she thought she was 10 to 13 years of age (R. 557). The boy with her was Salvador Calisto. Mr. Duckett then went back outside and asked the two to come speak with him (R. 557-58, 1683). They stood in front of Mr. Duckett's police car while he spoke with them (R. 636). Ms. McAbee told him that she was 11 and Mr. Calisto told him that he was 16 (R. 613, 1684). Soon after, Calisto's uncle, Maximino Rubio, drove up to the Circle K. Mr. Duckett recognized Mr. Rubio and went over to talk to him about his nephew (R. 1685-86). Mr. Duckett did not like the situation with Calisto and Ms. McAbee hanging out behind the dumpster at

that time of night and told Mr. Rubio that he needed to speak to his nephew about this(R. 638, 1686). Mr. Rubio and Mr. Calisto gathered their laundry from the laundromat and left (R. 616, 639)

Mr. Duckett asked Ms. McAbee to sit in the police car so he could speak with her further (R. 1684). Mr. Duckett explained to Ms. McAbee that she should not be at the store at that time of night and told her she needed to go home (R. 1687). Mr. Duckett made notes of the interview in his police notebook, noting that Ms. McAbee was wearing a white and tan sweater and that she was eleven years of age (D. Exh. 16). Ms. McAbee then exited the Circle K and left to walk around the dumpster behind the store in the direction of her home (R. 1687). Ms. McAbee's home was less than 400 feet behind the Circle K, on Sunset Drive (R. 513, 896).

Several persons were at the Circle K at this time, each of whom reported that Mr. Duckett got back into his car after Ms. McAbee left and drove off alone down Highway 50 towards Groveland, in the opposite direction of Ms. McAbee (R. 1656). Some of these people testified at trial, and some of them did not. Nonetheless, with one glaring exception which will be discussed *infra*, all agreed that Mr. Duckett left the Circle K

without anyone in his car and headed in the opposite direction as Ms. McAbee and her home.

At about midnight, Dorothy McAbee, mother of Teresa McAbee, decided to report her daughter missing to the police. She had checked at the Circle K earlier and been told that her daughter had left around 10:30-10:45. Mr. Duckett was out on patrol and no one was at the Mascotte Police Station, so Dorothy McAbee went to the Groveland Police Station a few miles down the road (R. 589-90). There, she spoke with an officer and explained that she believed her daughter was missing. Mr. Duckett was called on his police radio and returned to the Mascotte Police station to meet with Ms. McAbee. Mr. Duckett took a statement from her concerning the last time that she had seen her daughter and what her daughter was wearing at this time (R. 535). Ms. McAbee filed a missing persons report and went home (R. 520).

Mr. Duckett went to Ms. McAbee's home about 15-20 minutes later to get a picture of her daughter (R. 520, 1696-97). He returned to the police station where he made a flyer with the photo, which he then took to the Circle K and two other local convenience stores (R. 721-22, 673, 678). He then went to the home of Mr. Calisto and asked if he knew where Ms. McAbee was

(R. 642). Calisto told him he had not seen her since he left the Circle K.

Around 1:00 a.m., Mr. Duckett called his police chief, Michael Brady, and told him about the report and asked if there was anything further they should do (PC-R. 224, 227; R. 741, 1697). Mr. Duckett erroneously believed the girl was probably hanging out with some friends and had failed to tell her mother, but he continued to look for her (PC-R. 225). He also resumed his regular duties, including handing out some tickets to speeding motorists on Highway 50 prior to the end of his shift (R. 708-9, 711-12). At the end of his shift, Mr. Duckett again reported to Chief Brady, and then went home to sleep.

Shortly thereafter, Jim Clark decided to go fishing in the small lake located in the orange groves on Sunset Drive, approximately 3200 feet behind the Circle K (R. 897). Entrance to the orange grove was via a dirt road that came off of Sunset Drive, curved back by a lake and a pumphouse, and then continued back onto Sunset. As Mr. Clark stood by the pumphouse located on the lake, he noticed what he believed to be a body in the edge of the lake (R. 733). The exact time of this discovery is not clear, as documents and testimony indicate different times. At trial Mr. Clark did not give a

time for the discovery of the body, but noted that he dropped his children off at school between 7:15 and 7:30 a.m. then went to three other fishing holes before going to the pumphouse and observing the body (R. 728).

Mr. Clark found Chief Brady and took him back to the lake, where Chief Brady confirmed that the body was that of Ms. McAbee (PC-R. 231; R.758, 775). The Chief then informed the Lake County Sheriff's Office (LCSO) of the discovery. It was initially unclear which agency had jurisdiction of the case, but was subsequently determined that the LCSO would be in charge of the investigation. Chief Brady called Mr. Duckett at his home and informed him of the discovery. Mr. Duckett asked the Chief if he should come in but the Chief told him no. Thus, Mr. Duckett did not arrive at the scene until later that day.

Based on nothing more than a personal hunch, investigator Chuck Johnson decided on May 11 that James Duckett was somehow involved in the homicide ("the feeling was there"), and any chance of investigating other suspects ceased. Despite knowing this, Mr. Duckett voluntarily met with LCSO officers and gave a statement (R. 1279). Mr. Duckett was subsequently indicted for the murder of Ms. McAbee.

In October of 1987, five months after the crime, the person who would become the key witness for the state, Grace Gwendolyn Gurley, came to light. At that time Ms. Gurley was an inmate in the Leesburg Jail awaiting disposition on a charge of violation of probation. After seeing an account of Mr. Duckett's arrest on television, she mentioned to one of the officers that she was from that area and knew Mr. Duckett. (D. Exh. 4, pp. 7-8). She did <u>not</u> tell the jail officer that she had observed anything relevant to the disappearance of Teresa McAbee on the night of May 11, 1987 (D. Exh. 4, p. 8). Ms. Gurley was visited by persons from the LCSO right after she spoke to the officer in the jail (Id.). From this point on, the officers and prosecutors visited Ms. Gurley several times at the jail to speak about the case and even removed her from the jail on various occasions to visit with family and her boyfriend or to just get a meal. (Id. at 9, 10, 12, 15-19, 37-38).<sup>5</sup> By the time of Mr. Duckett's trial in May of 1988,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Jail records, memos in prosecutor Steve Hurm's personal file and statements of other witnesses confirm that Ms. Gurley was visited on several occasions by persons from the LCSO and that she was also removed from the jail on several occasions by these same persons. (*See* Arg. I; PC-R. 1321, 1338, 1341). This critical *Brady* information was never disclosed to the defense prior to trial (PC-R. 1276).

the work had paid off. The state now had a witness who could place Ms. McAbee in Mr. Duckett's car.

Ms. Gurley's testimony was the lynchpin of the prosecution's case. Not only was she the sole witness to place Ms. McAbee in Mr. Duckett's car, but she testified he drove off alone and then circled back around, picking up his passenger on the side of the Circle K by the dumpster. The only inference the jury could draw from this, and the proposition the state argued throughout the trial, was that Mr. Duckett snuck back to pick up Ms. McAbee so that he could sexually assault and kill her.<sup>6</sup> Of course, the testimony was false.

Ms. Gurley has now admitted in several statements, including a sworn deposition, that the testimony she gave at Mr. Duckett's trial was not true. In a statement given to attorney Jack Edmund after trial, Ms. Gurley explained that she agreed to lie at trial because the prosecution team told her that she would not do as much time if she cooperated with them (*Id.* at 19)<sup>7</sup>. To insure that her story rang true, they

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Because Ms. Gurley was pregnant, the parties agreed to let her testify in a video deposition, without the scrutiny of a live jury.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Ms. Gurley's Department of Corrections file indicates that she was sentenced to two years on three counts of grand theft auto with credit for 104 days on November 24, 1987, that

took her to the Circle K, showed her where to say she was standing and showed her what road she allegedly traveled that night (*Id.* at 19). Rocky Harris told her where to say Mr. Duckett's car was parked and exactly what to say about what she had allegedly seen that night (*Id.* at 14, 20-21, 37). There was no question in Ms. Gurley's mind that the prosecution team knew she was lying because a) they told her what she needed to say and b) she specifically told them that the whole story about what she had allegedly seen was a lie (*Id.* at 35, 39). Ms. Gurley was told she had to stick with this story at trial or risk further prosecution (*Id.* at 26, 35).<sup>8</sup>

Almost immediately after this sworn statement, Ms. Gurley was visited by representatives of the Lake County State Attorney's Office, Ric Ridgeway and Ken Raym (D. Exh. 6). Ms. Gurley was not asked by Mr. Ridgeway to provide any details

she was not eligible for parole consideration and was to serve the maximum sentence, and that her sentence of incarceration was to expire on August 11, 1989 (D. Exh. 38). In fact, Ms. Gurley was released from prison on April 14, 1988, one year and four months before the expiration of her sentence and one week before her video deposition in Mr. Duckett's case (*Id.*; D. Exh. 39).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Ms. Gurley obviously still believed this threat in August of 1989 because she asked Mr. Edmund if she was going to get "recharged" for speaking with him (D. Exh. 4, p. 25).

concerning what she allegedly saw on May 11, 1987, nor what events led up to her testimony. Mr. Ridgeway simply asked Ms. Gurley whether she had told the truth at trial and in her earlier statement to Rocky Harris (*Id.* at 2). Ms. Gurley answered yes to these questions (*Id.*). Ms. Gurley subsequently admitted that this statement to Mr. Ridgeway and her testimony at trial were the result of conversations with her interviewers both at the jail and during trips out of the jail into town(D. Exh. 3, 4).

In October of 1991, Ms. Gurley was contacted by representatives of Mr. Duckett to discuss the truthfulness of her trial testimony. In an interview with CCR investigator Grace Villazon, Ms. Gurley reiterated the facts that she had told Mr. Edmund during her 1989 deposition. Specifically, she noted that she was taken out of the jail on several occasions by investigators with the state, that she was taken to the Circle K and coached concerning what she allegedly heard and where she was standing on the night in question, that she in fact lied when she testified that she saw Mr. Duckett drive off with the victim, and finally, that she did so because she was told that the state would prosecute her as an adult if she did not help and that the state would help get her out of prison if she did cooperate. (PC-R. 1347-48). Ms. Gurley

confirmed these facts with Ms. Villazon in a subsequent interview in October or November of 1991 (*Id.* at 1350), and in a third interview with Ms. Villazon when undersigned counsel was present (*Id.* at 1351). In this third interview, Ms. Gurley confirmed that she had been told to go in the bathroom if she was not sure of an answer and that someone from the state would be there to help her, and that she did do this during her testimony (*Id.*)<sup>9</sup>. Ms. Gurley was willing to sign an

<sup>9</sup>Ms. Gurley did in fact take a bathroom break in the middle of her testimony and returned with a solid answer concerning her view of the car at the time the deceased went around the corner of the store:

- Q. Now, when you saw the police car parked by the dumpster, where by the dumpster was the car parked? In front of it? Behind it? The side of it?
- A. It was like beside it and probably a little bit in front of it. Just a little, if it was... it was right beside it.
- Q. And when you observed that, you say that you were down by the trees or bushes on the other side of the store?
- A. No, sir.
- Q. Where were you then?
- A. I was by the sidewalk of the store.

Witness to the Court: Excuse me. Could I take a break for a second to go to the bathroom.

\* \* \*

- Q. I believe where we left off you indicated you saw the police car pull up by the dumpster, is that right?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Could you see the police car from where you were at that time?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Maybe I am a little confused, but I think...I

affidavit at this time admitting that she had in fact lied at trial, and even made a slight change in this affidavit to insure that it was perfectly accurate. (*Id.* at 1354; D. Exh. 40).

In 1997, Ms. Gurley again admitted to investigators working on Mr. Duckett's case that she had lied at trial and that she was going to tell the truth now (PC-R. 1314, 1322-23, 1649), that she had been told to go in the bathroom if she got into trouble on her questions (PC-R. 1315), that when she did go in the bathroom someone was there to answer her questions (*Id.*) and that the attorney representing the state in postconviction told her she could be charged with perjury if she changed her trial testimony (*Id.* at 1315-16).<sup>10</sup>

(D. Ex. 2, p. 29-30).

Α.

<sup>10</sup>In fact, when Mr. Duckett's investigators went to serve Ms. Gurley with a subpoena for the post-conviction hearings, she stated that she would not go to jail for doing the right thing (PC-R. 1315-16). Additionally, she told them that State Attorney Don Scaglione had advised her on how to file a complaint against undersigned counsel if she so desired, despite the fact that she had not voiced any desire to do so or requested this information from the state.

thought you testified earlier today that you couldn't see the car, but you could tell it was a police car, because you could see the blue lights on the roof? I seen the car.

There is a wealth of evidence that corroborates Ms. Gurley's recantation, as opposed to her trial testimony. At the time of Mr. Duckett's trial no witnesses corroborated Ms. Gurley's version of events. Neither Jessie Gaitan nor Vickie Davis, the persons with Ms. Gurley on the evening of May 11, 1987, testified at trial. In fact, in separate statements to the sheriff's office, neither Mr. Gaitan nor Ms. Davis claim to have seen a police officer drive out of the Circle K parking lot with or without a passenger. And though both of these individuals gave differing accounts of the events on May 11 from Gwen Gurley's account, neither was interviewed by defense counsel nor called as a witness for the defense.<sup>11</sup>

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