### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES AREN DUCKETT,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC01-2149

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR LAKE COUNTY, FLORIDA

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY
SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #998818
444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
(386) 238-4990
Fax # (386) 226-0457
COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

On pages 61-65 of his brief, Duckett argues that "critical evidence which would have raised a reasonable doubt was not heard by the jury." That "evidence" is unidentified. Despite the due process pretensions of this claim, Duckett has done no more

than plead yet another specification of ineffective assistance of counsel, which is subject to, and cannot meet, the *Strickland* standard applied to such claims. The Circuit Court rejected this claim (albeit implicitly), and Duckett has not alleged any matter that calls that denial of relief into question. He cannot demonstrate deficient performance or prejudice, and has failed to carry his burden of proof.

### E. THE "CORROBORATING EVIDENCE" CLAIM

On pages 66-72 of his brief, Duckett again pleads an ineffective assistance of counsel claim as a denial of due process. When the histrionics of this claim are ignored, it is clear that Duckett has failed to establish the two-part test of Strickland v. Washington, and is entitled to no relief.

The Circuit Court found that this claim lacked factual support, pointing out that what Duckett describes as "withheld evidence" was, in fact, evidence that he either had or knew about (and could have told his lawyer about). (R1805). Likewise, the claim related to the pathologist fails because, as the Circuit Court found, the testimony of Duckett's hand-picked expert does not dispute the testimony of the pathologist who testified at trial. (R1805). Duckett has not established that counsel's performance was deficient, nor has he established that he was prejudiced in any fashion by the way his attorney

defended this case. There is no reasonable probability of a different result, and the Circuit Court should be affirmed in all respects.

# II. THE PENALTY PHASE INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL CLAIMS

On pages 75-80 of his brief, Duckett argues that trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective at the penalty phase of his capital trial. A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is reviewed de novo, and deference is given to the trial court's findings of fact. Stephens v. State, 748 So. 2d 1028, 1033 (Fla. 1999) (requiring de novo review of ineffective assistance of counsel claims); Sims v. State, 754 So. 2d 657, 670 (Fla. 2000). Both the deficient performance and prejudice prongs Strickland v. Washington 466 U.S. 668, (1984) established in order for the defendant to be entitled to relief, and both components present mixed questions of law and fact which are subject to de novo review on appeal. Cade v. Haley, 222 F.3d 1298, 1302 (11th Cir. 2000) (although the ultimate conclusion as to deficient performance and prejudice are subject to plenary review, the underlying findings of fact are reviewed only for clear error under Byrd v. Hasty, 142 F.3d 1395, 1396 (11th Cir. 1998); Strickland, supra, at 698. The standard is not how present counsel would have proceeded. Occhicone v. State,

768 So. 2d 1037, 1048 (Fla. 2000); Cherry v. State, 659 So. 2d 1069, 1073 (Fla. 1995).

The Circuit Court denied relief on this claim, stating:

Defendant claims that his attorney's actions in the penalty phase of the case were ineffective, and that this prejudiced him because the jury recommended a sentence of death. The testimony of Jack Edmund on June 7, 1997 (page 21-31, 34-38) as to his handling of the penalty phase; i.e. his presentation of witnesses and material before the court and jury, and the record itself support tactful [sic] decisions on the part of Mr. Edmund. The numerous witnesses and affidavits presented by post-conviction counsel were cumulative as to the testimony presented before the sentencing jury. There is no merit to a claim that counsel failed to present mitigation. And the record does not support "Strickland" standard of ineffectiveness by showing prejudice. Haliburton v. State, 22 Fla. L. Weekly 536.

(R1806). To the extent that Duckett alleges that trial counsel was ineffective for not presenting mental state testimony in mitigation, the Circuit Court found that this claim was not only meritless but also lacking in factual support, stating:

The Court can address this issue by examining the testimony of two individuals. First, the testimony of Jack Edmund on June 7, 1997 (page 39, 40, 41) shows that it was a tactful [sic] decision on the part of defense counsel not to employ a mental health expert. Second, Patricia Fleming testified on January 8, 1997 that she did not identify any unusual characteristics that signified any behavior or intellectual problems (page 56), nor was there any indication of major disorders 57). depressive (page Dr. Fleming acknowledged (page 66) no significant mental problems with Defendant. The court finds that had Mr. Edmund employed a mental health expert, the only testimony that this expert could have presented would have been lingering doubt, which is not permissible argument before the jury.

(R1807). Those findings are supported by the record, and should not be disturbed. $^{23}$ 

#### III. THE PROHIBITION ON JUROR INTERVIEWS

On pages 81-86 of his brief, Duckett argues that the rule prohibiting interviews of jurors is "unconstitutional." This claim is not only procedurally barred, but also meritless, as the Circuit Court found. Those rulings are each supported by competent, substantial evidence, and should not be disturbed. See, Guzman v. State, 721 So. 2d 1155, 1159 (Fla. 1998).

Duckett did not seek to conduct juror interviews following the conclusion of his capital trial, and his failure to timely raise the issue is a procedural bar to further litigation. Young v. State, 739 So. 2d 553, 555 n.5 (Fla. 1999) (concluding that postconviction claim regarding the constitutionality of rule which limits an attorney's right to interview jurors after the conclusion of trial was procedurally barred because not raised on direct appeal). Alternatively and secondarily, this claim

 $<sup>^{23}\</sup>mathrm{To}$  the extent that Duckett complains that page limitations prevent him from discussing the testimony of various witnesses, he is not entitled to compel this Court, and the State, to guess what he relies upon as a basis for relief. See, e.g., Duest v. Dugger, 555 So.2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1990); see also, Anderson v. State, 822 So.2d 1261, 1268 (Fla. 2002).

lacks merit, as the Circuit Court found. Spencer v. State, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S323 (Fla. 2002); Johnson v. State, 804 So. 2d 1218, 1225 (Fla. 2001); Arbelaez v. State, 775 So. 2d 909 (Fla.2000). (R1817).

#### IV. THE PROSECUTORIAL ARGUMENT CLAIM

On pages 86-88 of his brief, Duckett asserts that various arguments, questions, and statements made by the prosecutors were somehow improper. The Circuit Court found this claim procedurally barred because Duckett did not object to the complained-of matters at the time of trial, nor did he raise these matters as issues on direct appeal to this Court. That failure to timely raise the prosecutorial argument claim creates a double layer of procedural bar to further consideration of the issue. Moore v. State, 820 So. 2d 199 (Fla. 2002); Knight v. State, 746 So. 2d 423, 431 (Fla. 1998); San Martin v. State, 705 So. 2d 1337, 1345 (Fla.1997); Chandler v. State, 702 So. 2d 186, 191 (Fla. 1997); Sims v. State, 681 So. 2d 1112, (Fla.1996); Kilgore v. State, 688 So. 2d 895, 898 (Fla.1996) allegedly improper prosecutorial comments are (when preserved for appellate review, entire claim is procedurally barred in absence of fundamental error). Allen v. State, 662 So. 2d 323, 328 (Fla.1995)(contemporaneous objection and accompanying motion for mistrial required to preserve allegedly improper prosecutorial comments for appellate review). The Circuit Court's denial of relief on procedural bar grounds is supported by competent, substantial evidence, and should not be disturbed.<sup>24</sup> V. THE AKE V. OKLAHOMA ISSUE

On pages 88-89 of his brief, Duckett asserts that trial counsel should have obtained the services of a mental health expert, and that his constitutional rights were thereby violated. To the extent that this claim is an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, the Circuit Court's denial of relief is reviewed de novo. See pp.67-68, above. To the extent that this issue attempts to set out some other constitutional claim, that unspecified claim is not properly before this Court because it was not raised below. Florida law is well-settled that issues cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. Doyle, supra.

In denying relief on this claim, the Circuit Court stated:

This Court can address this issue by examining the testimony of two individuals. First, the testimony of Jack Edmund on June 7, 1997 (page 39, 40, 41) shows that it was a tactful [sic] decision on the part of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup>In footnote 65 on page 87 of his brief, Duckett asserts that trial counsel was ineffective with respect to the prosecutorial argument issue. That claim does not appear to have been presented to the Circuit Court, and, in any event, is not sufficiently briefed herein. If this is truly intended to be a claim of constitutional error, it should not have been relegated to a footnote in the back of the Defendant's brief.

defense counsel not to employ a mental health expert. Second, Patricia Fleming testified on January 8, 1997 that she did not identify any unusual characteristics that signified any behavior or intellectual problems (page 56), nor was there any indication of major disorders (page 57). Dr. depressive Fleming acknowledged (page 66) no significant mental problems with Defendant. The Court finds that had Mr. Edmund employed a mental health expert, the only testimony that this expert could have provided would have been lingering doubt, which is not permissible argument before the jury.

(R1807). The facts upon which the Circuit Court based its denial of relief are not clearly erroneous, do not support either the deficient performance or the prejudice prongs of *Strickland*, and establish why Duckett has failed to carry his burden of proof as to this claim. This claim is not a basis for relief, and the Circuit Court should be affirmed in all respects.

### VI. THE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE CLAIM

On pages 89-91 of his brief, Duckett argues various errors which, according to him, are associated with the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravator, and the during the course of a felony aggravator, both of which were applied in this case. The Circuit Court imposed a procedural bar as to this claim, and that disposition is in accord with settled Florida law. (R1807).

To the extent that further discussion of this claim is necessary, the law is clear that claims involving the adequacy of jury instructions cannot be raised for the first time on

collateral attack. Freeman v. State, 761 So. 2d 1055, 1066 (Fla. 2000) ("The issue of the heinous, atrocious and cruel instruction is not properly raised in a postconviction motion because the claim either was or could have been raised on direct appeal. See Hardwick, 648 So. 2d at 103; Lambrix, 641 So. 2d at 848; Bryan, 641 So. 2d at 63."); Johnston v. State, 708 So. 2d 590, 591 (Fla. 1998); Johnston v. Singletary, 640 So. 2d 1102, 1104 (Fla. 1994); Henderson v. Singletary, 617 So. 2d 313, 315 (Fla. 1993) ("The instruction given on the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravator was the standard jury instruction found lacking in *Espinosa.* ... Although defense counsel requested expanded instructions on both aggravating factors and objected when the standard instructions were given, this claim is procedurally barred because a specific challenge to the instructions was not raised on direct appeal."); Glock v. Moore, 776 So. 2d 243, 255 (Fla. 2001). The Circuit Court properly found Duckett's jury instruction claims to be procedurally barred -- that disposition should not be disturbed.

Alternatively and secondarily, without waiving the procedural bar defense, the facts of this case establish the heinousness aggravator beyond any doubt regardless of the definition applied thereto. *Johnston*, *supra*. Likewise, there can be no colorable argument that the during the course of an

enumerated felony aggravator is inapplicable to this case, and the subsidiary jury instruction claim is frivolous. Finally, to the extent that Duckett argues that Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466 (2000) is of some help to him, that assertion makes no sense. Apprendi has nothing to do with jury instructions, and Florida does not make the "eligibility for death" determination at the penalty phase of a capital trial. Mills v. Moore, 786 So. 2d 532, 536-537 (Fla. 2001). Duckett's argument is based upon a faulty premise, and would not be a basis for relief even if it were not procedurally barred. The Circuit Court's denial of relief should not be disturbed.

# VII. THE CALDWELL V. MISSISSIPPI CLAIM

On pages 91-93 of his brief, Duckett argues that the jury's sense of responsibility for its sentence was "unconstitutionally diluted" by "improper" jury instructions. The Circuit Court held this claim procedurally barred because it could have been but was not raised at trial or on direct appeal. That is a correct application of Florida law to the facts of this case, and it should not be disturbed.

Florida law is well-settled, as the Circuit Court held, that Caldwell claims are subject to a procedural bar on collateral attack, and properly imposed that bar in this case. (R1810).

Dugger v. Adams, 489 U.S. 401, 410 n. 6 (1989); Arbelaez v.

State, 775 So. 2d 909, 915 (Fla. 2000); Teffeteller v. Dugger, 734 So.2d 1009, 1026 (Fla. 1999); Sochor v. State, 619 So. 2d 285, 291 (Fla.1993) ("Florida's standard jury instructions fully advise the jury of the importance of its role and do not violate Caldwell."). This procedurally barred claim deserves no further discussion, and the Circuit Court should be affirmed in all respects.

#### VIII. THE BURDEN-SHIFTING JURY INSTRUCTION CLAIM

On pages 93-94 of his brief, Duckett argues that the penalty phase jury instructions "improperly shifted the burden" to him to prove that death was not the appropriate penalty, and that he received ineffective assistance of counsel with respect to the jury instruction issue. The ineffective assistance of counsel component is reviewed de novo by this Court, and the substantive claim is reviewed for clear error. See pages 67-68, above. The substantive claim is procedurally barred, as the Circuit Court found (R1813), and the ineffective assistance of counsel claim is meritless because the underlying claim is also meritless. Carroll v. State, 815 So. 2d 601, 623 (Fla. 2002) ("Appellate counsel's failure to raise nonmeritorious issues does not constitute ineffective assistance. See Groover v. State, 656 So. 2d 424, 425 [(Fla. 1995])."). Neither is a basis for relief under long-settled Florida law. Moore v. State, 820 So. 2d 199

(Fla. 2002); Gorby v. State, 819 So. 2d 664 (Fla. 2002); Freeman v. State, 761 So. 2d 1055, 1067 (Fla. 2000); Rutherford v. Moore, 774 So. 2d 637, 644 n. 8 (Fla. 2000); Demps v. Dugger, 714 So. 2d 365 (Fla.1998); Shellito v. State, 701 So. 2d 837, 842-43 (Fla.1997). See also, Blystone v. Pennsylvania, 494 U.S. 299 (1990); Boyde v. California, 494 U.S. 370 (1990). This claim is not a basis for relief, and the Circuit Court's denial of relief should not be disturbed.

#### IX. THE ABSENCE FROM CRITICAL STAGES CLAIM

On pages 95-97 of his brief, Duckett asserts that he was "absent from critical stages" in his trial. This claim is wholly based upon factual matters, and the Circuit Court's factual determinations are reviewed under the competent, substantial evidence standard. See pp. 69-70, above. This claim is procedurally barred, as the Circuit Court found, because it could have been but was not raised at trial or on direct appeal. (R1816). Despite the histrionics of his argument, none of the proceedings identified in his brief are "critical stages" of a trial, hence, the defendant's absence cannot be a basis for objection, much less for reversal.

To the extent that further discussion of this frivolous claim is necessary, Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.180 enumerates the stages of a criminal proceeding at which the

defendant's presence is required. None of the identified "absences" set out in Duckett's brief fall within the enumerated critical stages, and this claim collapses because it has no facts to support it. The Circuit Court properly denied relief on this claim. (R1815-16).

#### X. THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF THE DEATH PENALTY CLAIM

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